2023

Annual Report

Atradius Finance B.V.



Contents

Report of the Board of Directors	3
Conformity Statement	8
Financial statements 2023	9
Other information	27

01

Report of the Board of Directors

Report of the Board of Directors

Atradius Finance B.V. (the 'Company') is a private limited liability company, incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands on 14 November 2003, with its corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The Company provides finance and support services to Atradius N.V. and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 'Atradius'). The only activity of the Company is to support Atradius in obtaining external financing.

The sole shareholder of the Company is Atradius N.V., a company incorporated and domiciled in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The ultimate parent and the ultimate controlling party of Atradius is Grupo Catalana Occidente, S.A. (GCO), a listed company in Spain. The financial statements of Atradius N.V. are consolidated into GCO.

Risk management and internal control framework

The Company is part of Atradius and relies for its risk management on the Atradius risk management framework. The corporate bodies and committees described below operate at Atradius level.

As a global insurance provider, Atradius recognises the importance of risk management. Atradius maintains a solid risk management system comprising a risk strategy aligned to the business plan and supported by a mature governance structure, clear policies and procedures and an associated internal control system. Atradius continues to refine its risk management capabilities to reflect the ever changing threat landscape.

The relationship between risk and capital is fundamental for Atradius. Understanding how risk-taking consumes capital allows management to steer Atradius and take strategic decisions with the interdependence of risk and capital in mind. These decisions are substantially informed by the outcomes of Atradius' economic capital model. This internally developed model, which has received supervisory approval for use in calculating regulatory capital requirements, contributes to a multitude of risk assessment activities, as well as risk profile measurement, and enhances Atradius' ability to monitor and manage risk levels within the organisation through the allocation of risk-based capital and the definition of an appropriate risk appetite.

The boards of the group companies have ultimate responsibility and accountability for risk management and internal control within their respective companies. Attradius N.V.'s management board (the 'Management Board') implements and oversees Attradius' group-wide risk governance through the risk strategy management board (RSMB). The RSMB consists of all members of the Management Board, as well as the Directors of Group Risk Management, Strategy and Corporate Development and Group Finance.

The RSMB's responsibilities include the development and maintenance of the framework to manage risk and ongoing oversight of the most material risks. The RSMB sets Atradius' appetite and establishes the internal risk management framework by approving risk policies, risk boundaries, and by prescribing risk mitigation activities. In addition, the RSMB ensures that there are processes and systems to review the effectiveness of risk management and the internal control system.

The Atradius N.V. supervisory board (the '**Supervisory Board**') is responsible for overseeing that the Management Board implements a suitable risk management and internal control system. In this respect, the Management Board periodically presents results, developments and plans to the Supervisory Board and relevant committees thereof. One of these committees, the audit committee, supervises monitors and advises the Management Board on the effectiveness of internal risk management and control systems. The audit committee is assisted in this role by internal audit, which carries out both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures.

Atradius' risk management policies are established to formalise the identification and analysis of risks faced by Atradius, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and Atradius' activities. Through its training, management standards and procedures, Atradius maintains a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and responsibilities.

Central to Atradius' system of governance is the Atradius risk governance structure. The risk governance structure comprises a framework of committees, which support the RSMB in specific areas of risk.

By applying the Atradius risk governance structure, Atradius is able to:

- Communicate risk-related norms and values across the organisation;
- Provide clarity over the various responsibilities and accountabilities in the management of risk;
- Manage the Group's risk profile and development of the business over time;
- Ensure that Atradius adheres to an approved risk appetite;
- Ensure appropriate ownership of decisions; and
- Provide the Management Board with clear insight into decision-making and risk-management processes.

To achieve reliability over financial information and solvency reporting, the following controls are implemented and tested quarterly:

- Key controls required to manage the risk of a material error in financial and non-financial reporting; and
- Entity-level controls that detect material misstatement due to failures in controls that operate across and throughout the business.

The risk landscape

The state of the global economy greatly influences the risks that Atradius faces. Economic deterioration may result in increased insolvencies thereby causing more frequent and severe claims expenses. The return on our investment may also deteriorate and defaults on our holdings of debt instruments may occur. A severe deterioration of all the above-mentioned may affect the credit rating of Atradius. A downgrade of our credit rating could have a negative impact on the number of customer policies held by Atradius and thereby lower revenues. Understanding of this landscape, anticipating developments and preparing mitigating actions is a key expertise of Atradius.

In addition to the risks arising from direct credit insurance policies, reinsurance, and surety, which we refer to as underwriting risk, Atradius' risk landscape contains other types of risk. Atradius faces market risk related primarily to its assets, credit risk from reinsurers and third-party receivables, and operational risks such as cyber risk, legal risks, process execution risks and those relating to its personnel. In addition, strategic risks exist, such as the rapidly changing technological environment, possible adverse impacts from geopolitical conflict, and uncertainty around the breakup of supranational entities. Atradius has structures, systems and processes in place to identify, evaluate, monitor, and respond to internal and external sources of material risk in the landscape.

During 2023 we have seen the direct and indirect impacts of the war in Ukraine persist (including the effects of government-imposed sanctions) and most recently the war in Gaza. These and other lesser reported conflicts have resulted in among others, inflation, interest rate hikes, and increasing energy costs.

These continue to affect global trade as well as national economies in differing magnitudes due to the unpredictable end evolving direction of the conflict.

As in previous stressful periods, Atradius analysed the nature and sources of the risks across geographies and industry sectors, as well as the interaction of the factors that ultimately affect the resilience of Atradius customers and their buyers. Atradius used its extensive knowledge base and forward-looking tools, models and analysis on a continuous basis in portfolio management, underwriting decisions and policy structure to ensure the continued quality of its risk portfolio.

In relation to climate-related risks - more frequent and severe weather events are damaging infrastructure and disrupting supply chains. Transition to a lower carbon economy is bringing new policies, regulations and changes to market dynamics. There is a risk that such changes, or proposed speed of their implementation, could have a negative impact on Atradius by affecting its operations and/or its customers and their buyers. Focus on carbon footprint / CO2 emissions may require manufacturers to either adapt or ultimately go out of business, in turn having a knock-on effect on their suppliers. Doing business in certain trade sectors may become undesirable and attract negative publicity. At the same time, interest in climate change / ethical practices, such as ESG (Environmental, Social & Governance) and CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) considerations, may create opportunities to enhance Atradius offerings. Developments are monitored and discussed in various forums within Atradius.

In summary, Atradius has taken the appropriate steps to manage the rapidly changing risk landscape.

Environmental, Social and Governance Sustainability (ESG)

The Company is part of Atradius and relies for its ESG strategy on the Atradius framework. The activities described below operate at Atradius level.

In recent years, Atradius has focused on developing Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) initiatives. These initiatives reflect Atradius' commitment to sustainability.

In 2022, Atradius created a dedicated ESG Committee chaired by the CFO of Atradius, Claus Gramlich-Eicher. The ESG Committee is composed of members of the Atradius leadership team from various business areas and group functions and has been set up to structure Atradius' various ESG initiatives.

In 2023, Atradius also recruited a Head of ESG, who is responsible for promoting, driving, and coordinating the ESG initiatives globally as well as for overseeing the operational management of sustainability across our different international businesses.

Additionally, this year Atradius approved its sustainability policy in line with GCO's public policy, which defines the Atradius' approach towards sustainability.

Atradius has a Human Rights statement with the aim of adapting it to the provisions of the United Nations' Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in accordance with the principles and values of the Group's Code of Conduct.

Sustainability Master Plan 2024-2026

In 2022, Atradius formalised the sustainability ambitions based on three pillars - People, Planet and Prosperity, which have guided Atradius' actions in the current year.

In 2023, together with GCO, Atradius carried out a materiality assessment following the new European Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) approach. The CSRD implies the incorporation of the double materiality approach, which identifies and prioritises the sustainability aspects based on, (1) the impact that Atradius' activities have on the environment and its stakeholders (impact materiality), and (2) the impact that the environment and its stakeholders have on Atradius' activities from a risk and opportunity perspective (financial materiality).

The process included interviews with relevant functions of Atradius as well as internal and external surveys, complemented by global peer, trend, and regulatory analyses. The outcome was integrated into a new Sustainability Master Plan 2024-2026, which is structured into 10 strategic lines related to 4 pillars: Environmental Responsibility, Social Commitment, Good Governance and Sustainable Business.

As the management of Environmental, Social and Governance risk is performed comprehensively at GCO level, further information is available in the Sustainability Report, GCO's non-financial information statement, audited and published on the website: www.gco.com.

The Sustainability Report identifies the main Environmental, Social, and Governance risk map to which GCO and its individual entities would be exposed, as well as the impact that climate change risks could have on their activities according to the adverse scenarios analysed within the framework of the Own Risk and Solvency assessment (ORSA) of GCO.

Financial performance

The result for the year of the Company is mainly driven by the interest margin on the subordinated loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. (the 'Subordinated Loan') and the issued guaranteed subordinated notes (the 'Subordinated Notes') and on the change of expected credit losses on the Subordinated Loan. The result for the year is EUR 58,000 (FY 2022 a loss EUR 362,000). The 2023 result was only slightly impacted by an increase in the expected credit losses. While in FY 2022 this increase resulted a loss of approximately EUR 0.5 million (gross of taxes), effectively driven by the widening of the credit spreads due to increase in economic uncertainty and interest rate hiking from central banks to curb inflation.

Ratings

At the time of adopting this annual report, the key operating entities of Atradius (Atradius Crédito y Caución S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros, and Atradius Trade Credit Insurance, Inc.) are rated 'A (Excellent), outlook stable' by A.M. Best and 'Al, outlook stable' by Moody's. In September 2023, Moody's upgraded the financial strength rating of the Atradius rated entities from A2 to Al and the rating of the subordinated notes from Baa2 to Baal. Moody's also changed the outlooks on these entities to stable from positive.

The Subordinated Notes issued by the Company have at the time of adopting this annual report been assigned a debt rating of 'Baa1, outlook stable' by Moody's, and 'bbb+', outlook stable' by A.M. Best, an upgrade from 'bbb', following the AM Best change in their methodology "Best's Credit Rating Methodology (BCRM)".

Developments in 2024 and Outlook

In accordance with the prospectus of the Subordinated Notes, on each Optional Redemption Date (as defined in the prospectus), the Company has the option to redeem all of the Subordinated Notes. Such a redemption may take place on any contractually agreed payment date, the first of which occurs on the First Optional Redemption Date ('FORD') that is at 23 September 2024. Further to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. as amended pursuant to an amendment agreement dated 3 April 2024, the Subordinated Loan can be repaid in full or in several tranches on or before 30 September 2024. As of the date of this report, no decision has been made regarding the exercise of the option to redeem the Subordinated Notes at the FORD. If and when the option to redeem is exercised at the FORD, repayment with respect to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. will be executed, which repayment will be used to redeem (the still outstanding) Subordinated Notes.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements have been prepared assuming going concern as the aforementioned option to redeem the Notes has not yet been exercised.

The Board of Directors expects that if the option to redeem is executed at the FORD and the Company may be subsequently liquidated, that the Company will be able to meet its obligations and that such repurchase will have no impact on the result and equity of the Company and the Company's ability to operate as a going concern.

Atradius N.V. and its subsidiaries are proactively managing it debt capital structure. The following events took place:

- Further to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. as amended pursuant to an amendment agreement dated 3 April 2024, the Subordinated Loan can be repaid in full or in several tranches on or before 30 September 2024.
- On 8 April 2024, Atradius Crédito y Caución S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros ('ACyC'), a fully owned subsidiary of Atradius N.V., announced its intention to issue new euro-denominated Subordinated notes in amount of EUR 300 million.
- On 8 April 2024, the Company announced the launch of an invitation to holders of the outstanding Subordinated Notes, to tender such subordinated notes for purchase by Atradius Finance B.V. for cash (the '**Tender Offer'**).
- On 16 April 2024, for an amount of EUR 242.1 million has been tendered by the holders of the outstanding Subordinated Notes under the Tender Offer.
- The Company has sufficient cash, since on 17 April 2024, Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. partly settled the Subordinated Loan with the Company in the amount of EUR 240.2 million. The Company used the proceeds for the settlement of the Subordinated Notes that were offered following the Tender Offer. It is expected that the remaining part of the Subordinated Loan will be repaid by Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. on or before 23 September 2024.

Of the outstanding Subordinated Notes 96.85% has been tendered. Although as of the date of this report, no formal decision has been made regarding the exercise of the option to redeem the remaining Subordinated Notes at the FORD, the Board of Directors expects that it will call the still outstanding Subordinated Notes at the FORD on 23 September 2024.

The Board of Directors expects that the above-described transactions related to the Tender Offer and repayment of the Subordinated Loan by Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. will have a positive impact of approximately EUR 1 million on the result before taxes for the year 2024, with a similar impact in equity. After these transactions the interest income and interest expense will decrease significantly.

The Company is not involved in research & development activities and there are no developments foreseen in the areas of investments, financing or staffing.

Amsterdam, 23 April 2024 The Board of Directors

C. Gramlich-Eicher D. Hagener F.E. Beijdorff

Conformity statement

As required by section 5:25c subsection 2(c) of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het Financiael Toezicht), the members of the Board of Directors hereby confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

- The Atradius Finance B.V. 2023 financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of Atradius Finance B.V.
- The Atradius Finance B.V. 2023 annual report gives a true and fair view of the position of Atradius Finance B.V. at the end of the reporting period and of the development and performance of the business during the financial year 2023, together with a description of the principal risks Atradius Finance B.V. is being confronted with.

Amsterdam, 23 April 2024			
The Board of Directors			
	-		
C. Gramlich-Eicher			
D. Hagener	-		
	-		
F.E. Beijdorff			





Financial Statements 2023





Contents

No	tes to the financial statements	13
1	General information	13
2	Summary of significant accounting policies	14
	Management of financial risk	
4	Notes to the statement of financial position	21
5	Notes to income statement	23
6	Personnel	24
7	Related party transactions and balances	24
8	Independent auditor's fees	
9	Remuneration of the Board of Directors	25
10	Events after the reporting	25
11	Proposed profit appropriation	26

Financial statements

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 (before profit appropriation)

Assets	Note	31.12.2023	31.12.2022
Loans and receivables	4.1.1	_	247,428
Short term loans	4.1.1	246.404	,
Deferred tax assets	4.1.4	679	668
Current income tax asset		-	-
Other assets	4.1.2	3,920	3,930
Cash and cash equivalents	4.1.3	5,796	4,562
Total		256,799	256,588
Equity			
Share capital	4.2.1	18	18
Retained earnings	-	3,206	3,565
Undistributed result for the year	-	58	(362)
Total		3,282	3,221
Liabilities			
Subordinated debt	4.3.1	249,828	249,600
Current tax liabilities	-	31	10
Payables	4.3.2	-	184
Other liabilities	4.3.3	3,658	3,573
Total	_	253,517	253,367
Total equity and liabilities		256,799	256,588
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023 Interest income	Note 5.1	2023	2022 13,451
Interest expense	5.2	(13,224)	(13,356)
Net Interest income		177	95
Loan impairmentloss on financial assets	3.1.1	(40)	(525)
Net interest income/(expense) after provision for credit losses		137	(430)
Net operating expenses	5.3	(59)	(58)
Result for the year before tax		78	(488)
Income tax (expense)/credit	5.4	(20)	126
Result for the year attributable to the owners of the company		58	(362)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attributable to the owners of the		58	(362)

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to the own	ers of the Compan	У		
	Share capital	Retained earnings	Unappropriated result for the year	Total equit
Balance at 1 January 2022	18	501	3,064	3,583
Appropriation of prior year result		3,064	(3,064)	-
Result for the year		-	(362)	(362
Balance at 31 December 2022	18	3,565	(362)	3,221
Balance at 1 January 2023	18	3,565	(362)	3,221
Appropriation of prior year result		(362)	362	-
Result for the year		-	58	58
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2	2023			
<u> </u>	2023	Note	2023	2022
I. Cash flows from operating activities	2023	Note		
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables	2023	Note	14,384	14,371
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables Cash payments/collections to/from suppliers and related parties	2023	Note	14,384 (15)	14,371 12
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables	2023	Note	14,384	14,371 12
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables Cash payments/collections to/from suppliers and related parties Settling of income tax through fiscal unity	2023	Note	14,384 (15) (9)	14,371 12 (340)
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables Cash payments/collections to/from suppliers and related parties Settling of income tax through fiscal unity Net cash generated by operating activities	2023	Note	14,384 (15) (9)	14,371 12 (340) 14,043
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables Cash payments/collections to/from suppliers and related parties Settling of income tax through fiscal unity Net cash generated by operating activities II. Cash flows from financing activities	2023	Note	14,384 (15) (9) 14,360	14,371 12 (340) 14,043 (13,125)
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables Cash payments/collections to/from suppliers and related parties Settling of income tax through fiscal unity Net cash generated by operating activities II. Cash flows from financing activities Interest paid - subordinated loans	2023	Note	14,384 (15) (9) 14,360 (13,125)	14,371 12 (340) 14,043 (13,125) (4)
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables Cash payments/collections to/from suppliers and related parties Settling of income tax through fiscal unity Net cash generated by operating activities III. Cash flows from financing activities Interest paid - subordinated loans Interest paid - cash and cash equivalents	2023	Note	14,384 (15) (9) 14,360 (13,125) (1)	14,371 12 (340) 14,043 (13,125) (4)
I. Cash flows from operating activities Interest received - loans and receivables Cash payments/collections to/from suppliers and related parties Settling of income tax through fiscal unity Net cash generated by operating activities III. Cash flows from financing activities Interest paid - subordinated loans Interest paid - cash and cash equivalents Net cash used in financing activities	2023	Note	14,384 (15) (9) 14,360 (13,125) (1) (13,126)	12 (340) 14,043 (13,125) (4) (13,129)

Notes to the financial statements

1 General information

Atradius Finance B.V. (the 'Company') is a private limited liability company, incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands on 14 November 2003, with its corporate seat at 1 David Ricardostraat, 1066 JS, Amsterdam, the Netherlands; Chamber of Commerce registration number 34198113. The Company provides finance and support services to Atradius N.V. and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 'Atradius'). The only activity of the Company is to support Atradius in obtaining external financing.

The sole shareholder of Atradius Finance B.V. is Atradius N.V. The ultimate parent and the ultimate controlling party of Atradius N.V. is Grupo Catalana Occidente, S.A. (GCO), a listed company in Spain. The financial statements of Atradius are consolidated into GCO.

These financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2024.

Going concern

In accordance with the prospectus of the Subordinated Notes, on each Optional Redemption Date (as defined in the prospectus), the Company has the option to redeem all of the Subordinated Notes. Such a redemption may take place on any contractually agreed payment date, the first of which occurs on the First Optional Redemption Date ('FORD') that is at 23 September 2024. Further to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. as amended pursuant to an amendment agreement dated 3 April 2024, the Subordinated Loan can be repaid in full or in several tranches on or before 30 September 2024. As of the date of this report, no decision has been made regarding the exercise of the option to redeem the Subordinated Notes at the FORD. If and when the option to redeem is exercised at the FORD, repayment with respect to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. will be executed, which repayment will be used to redeem (the still outstanding) Subordinated Notes.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements have been prepared assuming going concern as the aforementioned option to redeem the Subordinated Notes has not yet been exercised.

The Board of Directors expects that if the option to redeem is executed at the FORD and the Company may be subsequently liquidated, that the Company will be able to meet its obligations and that such repurchase will have no impact on the result and equity of the Company and the Company's ability to operate as a going concern.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all financial years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of presentation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and also comply with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The Company's financial statements are prepared based on going concern. These have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates (please refer to note 2.11). It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

All amounts in the notes are shown in thousands of Euro (EUR), rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. The Euro is the functional currency of the Company (please refer to note 3.1.3.2).

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this, and other documents, may not add up precisely to the totals provided.

Below are the selected standards and amendments that are relevant for the Company.

2.2 New and revised standards

2.2.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2023

The following relevant standards, amendments and interpretations have been adopted in 2023, but have had no effect on the financial statements unless otherwise mentioned:

- Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financials Statements: and IFRS Practice statement 2: Disclosure of accounting policies and Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates. The Amendments revise IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies. To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements to explain the application of the materiality concept to accounting policy disclosures. The Amendments also revise IAS 8 to replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates and provide other clarifications to help entities distinguish accounting policies from accounting estimates. These amendments do not have an impact on the financial statements;
- Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction. These amendments do not have an impact on the financial statements;
- Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: International Tax Reform Pillar Two Model Rules (issued 23 May 2023). The Amendments introduce:
 - A mandatory temporary exception to the accounting for deferred taxes arising from the jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model rules;
 - Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial statements better understand an entity's exposure to Pillar Two income taxes arising from that legislation, particularly before its effective date; and
 - o The Amendments introduce a mandatory temporary exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from implementation of the OECD's Pillar Two Model Rules (Note 9).

These amendments do not have an impact on the financial statements;

2.2.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted

The following relevant standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 31 December 2023 and have not been early adopted by the Company:

- Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financials Statements: Non-current liabilities with covenants. This is to clarify how conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability classification of liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. These amendments will not have an impact on the financial statements.

The European Union has not yet endorsed the following relevant standards and amendments and as such these have not been adopted by the Company:

- Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements (Issued on 25 May 2023). These amendments will not have an impact on the financial statements.

2.3 Segment reporting

The Company has one relevant operating segment; the financial information of this operating segment is included in the financial statements.

2.4 Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market concerned. All financial assets are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at Fair-Value through Profit or loss (FVTPL). Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets classified as at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a financial asset. The Company determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. The Company's business model does not depend on management's intentions for an individual instrument therefore the business model assessment is performed at a higher level of aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

In assessing the contractual cash flow characteristics, the Company considers if the cash flows are solely principal and interest (SPPI). For the purpose of the SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. That principal amount may change over the life of the financial asset (e.g. if there are repayments of principal). Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. An originated or an acquired financial asset can be a basic lending arrangement irrespective of whether it is a loan in its legal form.

2.4.1 Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI), are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

2.4.2 Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets that are measured at amortised cost. These are measured as the probability-weighted present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive discounted at the asset's Effective Interest Rate (EIR). ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

- 12-Month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that results from those default events on the financial instruments that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as stage 1); or
- Full lifetime ECL i.e. lifetime ECL that results from all possible default events over the life of the financial instrument (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

The Company applies a three-stage approach to measure expected credit losses (ECLs) financial assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are in 'stage 1'. Financial assets that are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk are in 'stage 2'. Financial assets, for which there is objective evidence of impairment, are considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired, are in 'stage 3'.

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL. More details on the determination of a significant increase in credit risk are provided in note 3.

For ECL on a modified asset, please refer to note 2.4.3.

2.4.3 Modification and derecognition of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A modification affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date.

When a financial asset is modified the Company assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. A modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially different terms. To determine if the modified terms are substantially different from the original contractual terms the Company considers qualitative factors, such as contractual cash flows after modification are no longer SPPI, maturity and covenants. A quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining contractual cash flows under the original terms with the contractual cash flows under the revised terms.

Where a modification does not lead to derecognition the Company calculates the modification gain/loss comparing the gross carrying amount before and after the modification (excluding the ECL allowance). The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate. For such assets, the risk of default after modification is assessed at reporting.

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. The estimated fair value of the cash and cash equivalents is equal to the book value of the cash and cash equivalents due to the short-term nature of the balance.

2.6 Capital and reserves

2.6.1 Share capital

Share capital is the nominal value of issued shares. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments as consideration for the acquisition of a business are included in the cost of acquisition.

2.6.2 Retained earnings

Retained earnings is the accumulated amount of profits or losses at the end of the reporting period, which have not been distributed to shareholders. The distribution of retained earnings can be restricted by law and/or as set out in the articles of association of the Company.

2.7 Subordinated debt

The Company classifies its financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Subordinated debt is recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently measured at amortised cost. The difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the fixed period of the subordinated debt during which the interest is fixed using the effective interest method. Interest is accrued based on the effective interest rate calculated at inception of the subordinated debt and recognised over time to the value of the subordinated debt itself. Interest payable is reported under other liabilities.

2.8 Taxation

Income tax in the income statement for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect to previous years.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. If the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.

2.9 Statement of income

2.9.1 Income

Net interest income is the interest income on loans and receivables less interest expenses on subordinated bonds, both recognised using the effective interest method.

2.9.2 Expenses

Net operating expenses comprise administrative expenses.

2.10 Statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows is presented using the direct method.

Some of the terminology used in the statement of cash flows is explained as follows:

- Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents;
- Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of the Company and other activities that are not financing activities;
- Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the contributed equity and borrowings of the Company; and
- Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents.

2.11 Critical estimates, judgements and errors

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgment in applying the Company's accounting policies. The areas that involve a higher degree of judgement or complexity are the credit impaired losses, the fair value disclosures of financial assets

and subordinated debt and the deferred tax asset. Detailed information about each of these estimates and judgements is included in note 3.1.1, 4.1.1, 4.1.4 and note 4.3.1 respectively.

3 Management of financial risk

3.1 Financial risk

The Company is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities. The core components of the financial risk are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The relevant risks for the Company are further detailed in the next paragraphs.

3.1.1 Credit risk

The Company has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to repay their debts towards the Company in full when due. The key area where the Company is exposed to credit risk are the loans and receivables as part of financial assets. The loans and receivables consist of a subordinated loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. The underlying credit risk is depending on the capability of Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. to generate the necessary cash from its business to repay the loans. The subordinated loan is related to the issued subordinated notes (part of the liabilities in the balance sheet). Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. is a subsidiary of Atradius N.V., the shareholder of the Company, who acts as a guarantor under the subordinated notes.

At the time of adopting this Annual report, the key operating entities of Atradius (Atradius Crédito y Caución S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros and Atradius Trade Credit Insurance, Inc.) are rated 'A (Excellent), outlook stable' by A.M. Best and 'A1, outlook stable' by Moody's. The related maximum exposure to credit risk equals the carrying amount of EUR 250 million of the subordinated loan with Atradius Insurance Holding N.V.

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

As explained in note 2.4.2 the Company monitors financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Company will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The Company considers an instrument to be in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. Under IFRS 9, when determining whether the credit risk (i.e., risk of default) of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.

SICR is assessed by analysing the credit rating of the counterparty of the intercompany subordinated loan including assessing any changes in the credit rating since issuance date, of the counterparty and its main operating subsidiaries since issuance date and tracking history of default. Based on the analysis done there was no SICR and the company considered to have low credit risk.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Company uses forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort in its assessment of SICR as well in as in the measurement of ECL.

The Probability of Default (PD) is adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information in macroeconomics factors affecting the ability of the counterparty to pay.

Forward-looking information includes information obtained from economic export reports, financial analysists government bodies as well as consideration of various internal and external sources of actual and forecast economic information.

Measurement of ECL

For the financial asset's loss allowance provisions calculation, the ECL methodology estimates the difference between the contractual cash flows that must be paid according to the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.

The three elements to calculate the Expected Credit Losses (ECL) are Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD).

The ECL is calculated by the following formula: ECL = PD*LGD*EAD. The numbers are as follows: PD (1.5 %), LGD (68 %) and the EAD (EUR 252.9 million), ECL as of 31 December 2023 amounts to EUR 2.6 million. (In 2022, PD (1.5%), LGD (67.9%) and the EAD (253.9 million), ECL amounted to EUR 2.6 million)

The sensitivity for a change in the credit spread is as follows. A 25% decrease in the credit spread results in a lower ECL after tax of EUR 488 thousand and an increase of 25% respectively to a higher ECL after tax of EUR 488 thousand.

The components of the equation are determined in line with IFRS 9 requirements and were assessed by independent evaluators and verified by our internal risk management team. In 2023 the slight increase in expected credit losses of approximately EUR 40 thousand (gross of taxes), was driven mostly by the widening of the market credit spreads due to increase in economic uncertainty partially compensated by the shorter maturity of the loan compared to 2022.

The recovery rate, a key input in the calculation of the LGD, depends on the type of instrument, the conditions of each issue (for example, subordination level) and the issuer situation when facing a potential liquidation or resolution process. In this context, the recovery rates for Stage 1 are estimated based on external data and international studies. Currently there is no 'Stage 2 or 3' impairment allowance.

3.1.2 Liquidity risk

The Company is exposed to liquidity risk if there is insufficient cash available to meet its financial obligations, when due, at a reasonable cost. For the Company, liquidity risks may arise if large scale short-term fluctuations occur to cash flows, such as a decline in incoming cash or a rise in outgoing cash, or a combination of both.

Liquidity risk is managed at Atradius, in close coordination with local operations. Atradius' policy is to monitor and measure ongoing cash flow patterns and control liquidity by maintaining sufficient cash and highly marketable securities to reduce liquidity risk to acceptable low levels. The investment policy states that Atradius should only invest in financial instruments that can be liquidated in less than three business days. Atradius can access credit facilities to prevent certain liquidity shortages which may arise due to short-term cash flow variances. Atradius maintains an uncommitted credit line in excess of EUR 1 million, in the form of an overdraft facility for totalling EUR 50 million (2022: EUR 50 million). The credit line provides liquidity to cover infrequent peaks in short-term liquidity requirements while also permitting Atradius to reduce its cash balances and to benefit from a more substantial and stable investment portfolio. Finally, Atradius has in place a simultaneous claims payment clause in the main reinsurance treaties. This clause allows Atradius to ask the reinsurers to anticipate the payment of a large claim upon Atradius' request instead of the usual payment terms agreed in the reinsurance treaties.

The following table indicates the estimated amount and timing of cash flows as at the end of the reporting period of interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the reporting period.

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities and the related assets are based on the earliest contractual repayment date.

At 31 December 2023					
	0-1 years	1-3 years	3-5 years	>5 years	Carrying value
Interest bearing assets					
Short term loans	262,384	-	-		249,036
Cash and cash equivalents	5,796	-	-		5,796
Interest bearing liabilities					
Subordinated debt	13,125	44,700	44,700	607,600	249,828

At 31 December 2022					
	0-1 years	1-3 years	3-5 years	>5 years	Carrying value
Interest bearing assets					
Loans and receivables	14,384	36,555	44,342	624,910	250,018
Cash and cash equivalents	4,562	-	-		4,562
Interest bearing liabilities					
Subordinated debt	13,125	35,475	44,700	629,950	249,600

The undiscounted contractual cash flows shows a mismatch between interest bearing assets and interest bearing liabilities. The reason is that interest bearing liabilities are based on the contractual cash flows while the interest bearing assets are based on the expected cash flows. This is also the reason why the loans and receivables are reclassified from long term to short term loans. In practice Atradius will always assure that Atradius Finance BV liabilities and assets are properly matched.

3.1.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial assets or financial liabilities will fluctuate due to changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and equity price risk. The Company is only exposed to interest rate risk. Due to the fact that the assets and the liability's terms and conditions are similar the interest risk is not expected to have a material impact.

3.1.3.1 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Due to the fact that the redemption dates of both the loan (asset) and the notes (liability) managed by the Company are equal, the Company considers the interest rate risk as low. In addition, the Company manages it interest rate risk on the notes by an equally fixed rate basis on the loan. As this effectively mitigates any interest rate risk exposure there is no sensitivity to interest rate movement in the Company's accounts.

The table below summarises the combined percentage of the yield and spread at the end of the reporting period by type of interest-bearing assets and liabilities as at that date for the fixed rate of interest period. The interest-bearing assets in this table relate to the subordinated loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V.

		Weighted average effective interest rate %		
	ef			
		2023	2022	
Interest bearing assets				
Granted subordinated loan		7.21%	7.21%	
Interest bearing liabilities				
Subordinated notes		6.92%	6.92%	

3.1.3.2 Currency risk

The Company is not exposed to currency exchange risk, since the Company's assets as well as the liabilities are all denominated in EUR.

3.1.3.3 Equity price risk

The Company is not exposed to movement in equity prices since it does not hold any equity investments in its investment portfolio.

4 Notes to the statement of financial position

4.1 Assets

4.1.1 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables can be specified as follows:

	2022	2022
	2023	2022
Amortised cost as at 31 December	249,036	250,018
Expected Credit Loss allowance	(2,632)	(2,590)
Transfer to short term loans	(246,404)	
Balance as at 31 December	0	247,428

4.1.2 Short term loans

Short term loans can be specified as follows:

	2023	2022
Amortised cost as at 31 December transferred from Loans and receivables	249,036	0
Expected Credit Loss allowance transferred from Loans and receivables	(2,632)	-
Balance as at 31 December	246,404	0

The short-term loans are current and relate to a subordinated loan granted on 23 September 2014 to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V., a related party, of EUR 248 million, with an original maturity of 30 years. The subordinated loan bears interest on the principal amount consisting of a fixed rate of interest of 5.8% per annum -after an agreed increase of the interest margin by 44 basis points in December 2018- payable annually until the first 10 years have elapsed. The rate of interest will thereafter be reset to a floating 3-month-EURIBOR plus a margin of 5.031% per annum payable quarterly for the remaining 20 years.

Further to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. as amended pursuant to an amendment agreement dated 3 April 2024, the Subordinated Loan can be repaid in full or in several tranches on or before 30 September 2024. As of the date of this report, no decision has been made regarding the exercise of the option to redeem the Subordinated Notes at the FORD. If and when the option to redeem is exercised at the FORD, repayment with respect to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. will be executed, which repayment will be used to redeem (the still outstanding) Subordinated Notes.

The loss allowance is based on a 12-month ECL, there was no SICR (Significant Increase in Credit Risk) on transition. For additional information, please refer to note 3.1.1.

The fair value of the loan at year-end 2023 is estimated at EUR 250 million (2022: EUR 248 million). The estimate is calculated in line with the estimate for the subordinated notes (see Note 4.3.1). The subordinated loan is classified as a level 2 financial instrument under the fair value hierarchy since it is related to the subordinated notes (see Note 4.3.1). The increase in the fair value has been driven by the decrease of market interest rates in Q4 2023.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during 2022 and 2023.

As the interest rate earned on the loan receivable is higher than the interest rate paid on the subordinated notes, the fair value of the asset is higher on a net present value basis. However, due to the lower denomination (EUR 248 million) of the loan versus the subordinated notes (EUR 250 million), the fair value of the asset is approximately EUR 1 million lower than that of the subordinated notes (2022: appr. EUR 0.6 million higher).

4.1.3 Other assets

The estimated fair values of other assets are comparable with the book value of these assets due to the short-term nature of the balance. These assets are all current and consist of accrued interest, prepaid expenses and income tax.

4.1.4 Cash and cash equivalents

All cash and cash equivalents are current and include cash at bank and cash in hand. The Company participates in a cash pooling agreement within Atradius. Cash balances are transferred to the master account at Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. on a quarterly basis, resulting at year-end in an intercompany cash receivable. These balances remain always at the disposal of the entity.

4.1.5 Deferred tax assets

The expected credit loss of EUR 2.6 million (2022: EUR 2.6 million) created a temporary difference between IFRS and tax base and therefore a deferred tax asset of EUR 0.7 million (2022: EUR 0.7 million) was recognised. The deferred tax asset will depend on the value of the expected credit loss and will move in accordance with the changes in the excepted credit loss amount going forward. The tax rate remained at 25.8% (2022: 25.8%).

The deferred tax asset will depend on the value of the expected credit loss and will move in accordance with the changes in the excepted credit loss amount going forward. The deferred tax asset is considered as non-current.

The gross movement on the deferred income tax is presented in the following table:

	2023	2022
Balance at 1 January	668	533
Credit (charge) to comprehensive income for the year	11	136
Balance at 31 December	679	668

4.2 Equity

4.2.1 Share capital

The authorised share capital amounts to EUR 90,000 divided into 90 shares with a nominal value of EUR 1,000 each. Eighteen shares (nominal value EUR 18,000) were issued and fully paid at balance sheet date. The fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. There have been no changes in the number of shares outstanding during the reporting period.

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to:

- Safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders,
 and
- Maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital for Atradius N.V and its subsidiaries.

4.3 Liabilities

4.3.1 Subordinated debt

On 23 September 2014, the Company issued guaranteed subordinated notes with a nominal value of EUR 100,000 each for an aggregate amount of EUR 250 million (the '**Subordinated Notes**').

In accordance with the prospectus of the Subordinated Notes, the Company as issuer has the option to redeem all of the Subordinated Notes in whole, but not in part, on the First Call Date (23 September 2024; the 'FORD') or on any Interest

Payment Date thereafter, each an Optional Redemption Date (ORD). As of the date of this report, no decision has been made regarding the exercise of the option to redeem at the FORD.

The Subordinated Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.250% per annum payable annually in the first 10 years, which will thereafter be reset to a floating 3 month-EURIBOR plus a margin of 5.031% per annum payable quarterly for the remaining 19 years. The Subordinated Notes do qualify as regulatory capital under the Solvency II grandfathering rules. The Subordinated Notes are guaranteed by Atradius N.V. and are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

As at the balance sheet date the Subordinated Notes issued by the Company have been assigned a debt rating of 'bbb+, outlook stable' by A.M. Best and 'Baal, stable' by Moody's.

The fair value estimate of the Subordinated Notes at year-end is EUR 251 million (2022: EUR 247 million) and is classified as Level 2 under the fair value hierarchy as it is based on a discounted cash flow model based on observable market inputs. The increase in the fair value has been mostly driven by the decrease in market interest rates in Q4 2023.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during 2022 and 2023.

The Subordinated Notes are non-current based on the contractual cash flows.

4.3.2 Payables

All current and relate mainly to intercompany positions and operating costs to be settled.

4.3.3 Other liabilities

The other liabilities are all current and consist mainly of the accrued interest balance on the Subordinated Notes at the end of the reporting period of EUR 3.7 million (2022: EUR 3.6 million).

5 Notes to income statement

5.1 Interest income

This amount consists of interest income relating to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V.

5.2 Interest expense

This amount consists of interest expenses relating to the Subordinated Notes.

5.3 Net operating expenses

This amount consists of administrative expenses.

5.4 Income Tax (expense)/credit

	2023	2022
Current tax	31	10
Deferred tax	(11)	(136)
Income tax (expense)/credit for the year	20	(126)

The reconciliation of the expected tax rate to the actual tax rate is provided in the following table:

	2023	2022
Result before tax	78	(488)
Tax at the rate of 25.8% (2022: 25.8%)	20	(126)
Tax rate adjustments	-	-
Income tax (expense)/credit for the year	20	(126)

The current tax liability relates to corporate income taxes payable. As the Company is included in a fiscal unity for corporate income tax purposes with Atradius N.V. in the Netherlands, the tax payable of the Company will be settled with other entities within the fiscal unity. All companied included in the fiscal unity are jointly and severally liable for the corporate income tax payable in the Netherlands by the fiscal unity.

6 Personnel

The Company has no employees (2022: nil).

7 Related party transactions and balances

At 31 December 2023	Interest income related parties	Interest expense related parties	Nominal values owed by related parties	Nominal values owed to related parties
Atradius Insurance Holding N.V.	13,401	-	253,796	-
Occident GCO. S.A.U. de Seguros y Reaseguros	<u> </u>	4,352		95,476
Total	13,401	4,352	253,796	95,476
At 31 December 2022	Interest income related parties	Interest expense related parties	Nominal values owed by related parties	Nominal values owed to related parties
Atradius Insurance Holding N.V.	13,451	-	252,562	-
Occident GCO. S.A.U. de Seguros y Reaseguros	<u> </u>	3,027		60,041
Total	13,451	3,027	252,562	60,041

Loans and receivables

The intercompany positions following the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. are disclosed in note 4.1.1.

Cash and cash equivalents

The intercompany cash receivable on Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. is disclosed in note 4.1.3.

Subordinated debt

During 2023 Occident GCO. S.A.U. de Seguros y Reaseguros purchased additional guaranteed Subordinated Notes (EUR 35.4 million, 14%; total holdings EUR 95.5 million, 38.2% at 31 December 2023). The interest expense from related parties relating to this portion in 2023 was EUR 4.4 million (2022: EUR 3.0 million).

Payables

The intercompany payable comprises a position to Atradius Crédito y Caución S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros (2023: EUR 0; 2022: EUR 97 thousand) for invoices to be settled. The outstanding balance in 2022 has settled in 2023.

These transactions with related parties are at arm's-length. To better align with other group companies, we present nominal values

Other services that Atradius performs on behalf of the Company. except for independent auditor's expenses are not recharged to the entity.

8 Independent auditor's fees

The information of the Company is consolidated in the financial statements of Atradius N.V., no further disclosure is required relating to independent auditor's fees.

9 Remuneration of the Board of Directors

The Company paid no specific remuneration to members of the Board of Directors of the Company in 2023 and 2022. All members of the Board of Directors are employed by Atradius. Costs were not allocated or recharged to the Company for services performed by the Board of Directors.

10 Events after the reporting

The following developments took place in 2024 and have a significant impact on the composition of the financial statements:

Atradius N.V. and its subsidiaries are proactively managing it debt capital structure. The following events took place:

- Further to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. as amended pursuant to an amendment agreement dated 3 April 2024, the Subordinated Loan can be repaid in full or in several tranches on or before 30 September 2024.
- On 8 April 2024, Atradius Crédito y Caución S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros ('ACyC'), a fully owned subsidiary of Atradius N.V., announced its intention to issue new euro-denominated Subordinated notes in amount of EUR 300 million.
- On 8 April 2024, the Company announced the launch of an invitation to holders of the outstanding Subordinated Notes, to tender such subordinated notes for purchase by Atradius Finance B.V. for cash (the 'Tender Offer').
- On 16 April 2024, for an amount of EUR 242.1 million has been tendered by the holders of the outstanding Subordinated Notes under the Tender Offer.
- The Company has sufficient cash, since on 17 April 2024, Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. partly settled the Subordinated Loan with the Company in the amount of EUR 240.2 million. The Company used the proceeds for the settlement of the Subordinated Notes that were offered following the Tender Offer. It is expected that the remaining part of the Subordinated Loan will be repaid by Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. on or before 23 September 2024.

Of the outstanding Subordinated Notes 96.85% has been tendered. Although as of the date of this report, no formal decision has been made regarding the exercise of the option to redeem the remaining Subordinated Notes at the FORD, the Board of Directors expects that it will call the still outstanding Subordinated Notes at the FORD on 23 September 2024.

The Board of Directors expects that the above-described transactions related to the Tender Offer and repayment of the Subordinated Loan by Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. will have a positive impact of approximately EUR 1 million on the result before taxes for the year 2024, with a similar impact in equity. After these transactions the interest income and interest expense will decrease significantly.

11 Proposed profit appropriation

The Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting to allocate the positive result for the year of EUR 58 thousand to the retained earnings. The proposal is not yet reflected in these financial statements.

23 April 2024
The Board of Directors
C. Gramlich-Eicher
D. Hagener
F.E. Beijdorff

03

Other information

Other Information

Statutory appropriation of result

In accordance with article 21 of the Articles of Association the result for the year is at the disposal of the General Meeting.



Independent auditor's report

To: the general meeting of Atradius Finance B.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2023

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of Atradius Finance B.V. ('the Company') give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and of its result and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted in the European Union ('EU-IFRS') and with Part 9 of Book 20f the Dutch Civil Code.

What we have audited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2023 of Atradius Finance B.V., Amsterdam.

The financial statements comprise:

- the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;
- the following statements for the year ended 31 December 2023: the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and
- the notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework applied in the preparation of the financial statements is EU-IFRS and the relevant provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. We have further described our responsibilities under those standards in the section 'Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements' of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

NLE00023196.1.1

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., Thomas R. Malthusstraat 5, 1066 JR Amsterdam, P.O. Box 90357, 1006 BJ Amsterdam, the Netherlands

T: +31 (0) 88 792 00 20, F: +31 (0) 88 792 96 40, www.pwc.nl

'PwC' is the brand under which PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180285), PricewaterhouseCoopers Belastingadviseurs N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180287), PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180287), PricewaterhouseCoopers Compliance Services B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 514140406), PricewaterhouseCoopers Pensions, Actuarial & Insurance Services B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 54226368), PricewaterhouseCoopers B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180289) and other companies operate and provide services. These services are governed by General Terms and Conditions ('algemene voorwaarden'), which include provisions regarding our liability. Purchases by these companies are governed by General Terms and Conditions of Purchase ('algemene inkoopvoorwaarden'). At www.pwc.nl more detailed information on these companies is available, including these General Terms and Conditions and the General Terms and Conditions of Purchase, which have also been filed at the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce.



Independence

We are independent of Atradius Finance B.V. in accordance with the European Union Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities, the 'Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties' (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the 'Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten' (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the 'Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants' (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to paragraph 'going concern' in the notes to the financial statements which indicates that no decision has been made regarding the exercise of the FORD, and that if the option to redeem is executed, the company may be subsequently liquidated and that the board of directors expects that the company will be able to meet its obligations. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

We refer to section 'Audit approach going concern' for further information on our audit procedures regarding the going concern assumption.

Our audit approach

We designed our audit procedures with respect to the key audit matters and fraud, and the matters resulting from that, in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon. The information in support of our opinion, such as our findings and observations related to individual key audit matters, the audit approach fraud risk and the audit approach going concern was addressed in this context, and we do not provide separate opinions or conclusions on these matters.

Overview and context

The Company's main activity is to provide finance and support services to Atradius N.V. and its subsidiaries, through bond offerings on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The repayment of the subordinated notes to the investors is guaranteed by Atradius N.V. as disclosed in note 4.3.1 to the financial statements. The Company has granted a loan to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. of a similar amount as the outstanding notes as disclosed in note '4.1.2. Short term loans'. Both the issued loan and the notes have the same agreed interest characteristics (fixed for the first ten years, floating afterwards). We refer to the section 'Audit approach going concern' in below report for further information on the expected earlier redemption of both the granted loan to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. and the Notes as well as our audit approach and impact on the going concern assessment.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where the board of directors made important judgements, for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. We also paid attention to climate-related risks.



In paragraph 3.1.1. Credit risk and 4.1.2. Short term loans of the financial statements, the Company describes the areas of judgement in applying accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty. Given the significant estimation uncertainty and the related higher inherent risks of material misstatement in the measurement of expected credit losses, we considered this matter as a key audit matter as set out in the section 'Key audit matters' of this report.

The Company assessed the possible effects of climate change on its financial position, refer to the paragraph 'The risk landscape' in the report of the board of directors. We discussed the Company's assessment and governance thereof with the board of directors and evaluated the potential impact on the financial position including underlying assumptions and estimates included in the financial statements. The impact of climate change is not considered a key audit matter.

We ensured that the audit team included the appropriate skills and competences, which are needed for the audit of a finance company.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by the application of materiality, which is further explained in the section 'Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements'.

Based on our professional judgement we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and to evaluate the effect of identified misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements as a whole and on our opinion.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a whole at €2,500,000 (2022: €2,500,000). As a basis for our judgement, we used 1% of total assets. We used total assets as the primary benchmark, a generally accepted auditing practice, based on our analysis of the common information needs of the stakeholders. Inherent to the nature of the Company's business, the amounts in the statement of financial position are large in proportion to the income statement line items. Based on qualitative considerations, we performed audit procedures on those income statement line items, applying a benchmark of 10% of the total of expenses.

We also take misstatements and/or possible misstatements into account that, in our judgement, are material for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the board of directors that we would report to them any misstatement identified during our audit above €125,000 (2022: €125,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Audit approach fraud risks

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to fraud. During our audit we obtained an understanding of Atradius Finance B.V. and its environment and the components of the internal control system. This included the board of directors' risk-assessment process, the board of directors' process for responding to the risks of fraud and monitoring the internal control system. Some of these procedures are performed at Atradius N.V. group level and are also applicable to Atradius Finance B.V.



We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the internal control system with respect to the risks of material misstatements due to fraud and in particular the fraud-risk assessment, as well as the code of conduct and whistle-blower procedures.

We asked members of the board of directors whether they are aware of any actual or suspected fraud. This did not result in signals or actual or suspected fraud that may lead to a material misstatement.

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and bribery and corruption. We evaluated whether these factors indicate that a risk of material misstatement due to fraud is present.

We identified the following fraud risk and performed the following specific procedures:

Identified fraud risk

The risk of management override of control

The board of directors is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of management's ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively.

That is why, in all our audits, we pay attention to the risk of management override of controls in:

- the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments made in the preparation of the financial statements;
- estimates;
- significant transactions, if any, outside the normal course of business for the entity.

We pay particular attention to tendencies due to possible interests of the board of directors.

Audit work and observations

We evaluated the design and implementation of the internal control measures, that are intended to mitigate the risk of management override of control.

We performed our audit procedures primarily substantive based.

We have addressed the risk of management override of controls by:

- Journal entries and other adjustments: we have selected journal entries based on risk criteria and performed specific audit procedures on these, also paying attention to significant transactions outside the normal business operations. Given the low volume of transactions, we assessed all payments and receipts on the bank statement and ensured that each payment or receipt was for a legitimate business purpose. We have assessed all other adjustments made in the preparation of the financial statements and noted no irregularities.
- Management estimates: we refer to the Key Audit matter 'Measurement of expected credit losses' below for our audit work and observations.
- Significant transactions outside of normal course of business: we have assessed all transactions and noted no transaction outside of the normal course of business.

Our audit procedures did not lead to specific indications of fraud or suspicions of fraud with respect to management override of controls.

We incorporated an element of unpredictability in our audit. During the audit, we remained alert to indications of fraud. Furthermore, we considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and evaluated whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations.

Audit approach going concern

In the going concern paragraph in the notes of the financial statements, the board of directors disclosed conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty, which may cast significant doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.



The board of directors' most significant assumptions underlying their plans to address these conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty, which may cast significant doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern (hereafter: going concern risks), are that:

- In accordance with the prospectus of the Subordinated Notes, on each Optional Redemption Date (as defined in the prospectus), the Company has the option to redeem all of the Subordinated Notes. Such a redemption may take place on any contractually agreed payment date, the first of which occurs on the First Optional Redemption Date ('FORD') that is at 23 September 2024. Further to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. as amended pursuant to an amendment agreement dated 3 April 2024, the Subordinated Loan can be repaid in full or in several tranches on or before 30 September 2024.
- As of the date of this report, no decision has been made regarding the exercise of the option to redeem the Subordinated Notes at the FORD. If and when the option to redeem is exercised at the FORD, repayment with respect to the Subordinated Loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. will be executed, which repayment will be used to redeem (the still outstanding) Subordinated Notes.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements have been prepared assuming going concern as the aforementioned option to redeem the Subordinated Notes has not yet been exercised.

The Board of Directors expects that if the option to redeem is executed at the FORD and the Company may be subsequently liquidated, that the Company will be able to meet its obligations and that such repurchase will have no impact on the result and equity of the Company and the Company's ability to operate as a going concern.

In order to evaluate the appropriateness of the board of directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting, including the board of directors' expectation that their plans sufficiently address the identified going concern risk and the adequacy of the related disclosures, we amongst others, performed the following procedures.

Based on our knowledge obtained regarding the entity, its environment and current financial situation, we assessed whether the information obtained regarding events or conditions that may result in going concern risks has been included in the board of directors' assessment. We have taken into account internal and external information such as minutes of the board meeting discussing the Company's future plans and intentions, read the terms of the subordinated loan, the prospectus of the subordinated notes including all amendments and determined whether any have been breached and read relevant communication with important customers and suppliers. In addition, we have inquired of the board of directors as to their knowledge of going concern risks beyond the period of the board of directors' assessment.

Regarding the board of directors' plans, we:

- evaluated whether the board of directors realise their plans timely, specifically with regards to the settlement of the granted subordinated loan to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. and the subordinated notes.
- assessed whether the expected outcome of the board of directors' plans has been adequately included in the board of directors' cash flow forecast;



 evaluated the consistency of the board of directors' business plan, the aforementioned plans and cash flow forecast.

Regarding the cash flow forecast, we evaluated the sufficiency of the liquidity headroom as included in the forecast, specifically with regard to the settlement of the granted loan to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V. and the redemption of the outstanding subordinated notes.

To consider whether any additional facts or information have become available that may be relevant for the identified going concern risk, including the board of directors' expectation on the sufficiency of the board of directors' actions and plans to mitigate the identified risk, we

- read minutes of the board of directors' meetings for reference to financing difficulties; and
- inquired of the board of directors.

We evaluated whether the going concern risk including the board of directors' actions and plans to address the identified risk and the most significant underlying assumptions have been sufficiently described in the notes to the financial statements. We found the disclosure in the section 'Going Concern' of the financial statements, where the board of directors disclosed conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, to be adequate.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the board of directors. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters identified by our audit and that we discussed. In this section, we described the key audit matters and included a summary of the audit procedures we performed on those matters.

Due to the nature of the Company, key audit matters do not significantly change year over year.

Key audit matter

Measurement of expected credit lossesNote 3.1.1. Credit Risk and 4.1.1. Short term loans

We consider the valuation of the loan receivable of €246,404,000 as disclosed in note 3.1.1. Credit Risk and 4.1.2. Short term loans to the financial statements to be a key audit matter. This is due to the relative complexity of the impairment calculation and the size of the loan.

The basis for determining the IFRS 9 expected credit loss ('ECL') depends on the classification and measurement of the financial instrument. The board of directors has performed an assessment to conclude whether the cash-flows from financial instruments fulfil the requirements of the SPPI test (solely of payment of principal and interest).

How our audit addressed the matter

We performed the following procedures to test the board of directors' assessment of the expected credit loss to support the valuation of the short-term loan granted to Atradius Insurance Holding N.V.:

- In connection with classification and measurement, we analysed supporting documents (mainly loan documentation such as prospectuses and term sheets) to evaluate whether the SPPI requirements in IFRS 9 are
- With respect to the ECL calculation, we tested the loan qualification as stage 1 by assessing the actual performance of the loan.

Atradius Finance B.V. - NLE00023196.1.1



Key audit matter

The board of directors has determined that the loan issued is categorised as stage 1 loan, hence only a twelve-month ECL has been recognised.

Mainly with respect to the Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) used in the determination of the expected credit losses, the board of directors has applied significant judgement given the low default character of the entity's loan portfolio. There is limited internal historical data to support and back-test the PD and LGD; therefore, the board of directors used data from external data source providers in determining the ECL.

How our audit addressed the matter

- We evaluated the financial position of the counterparty of the loan receivable and guarantor of the subordinated debt by assessing observable data from rating agencies, developments in credit spreads, and the latest available data in order to assess if there are no adverse conditions present suggesting the loans should be classified as stage 2 or 3.
- For the ECL, we assessed that the impairment methodology and model applied by the Company were in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 and consistent with the prior year.
- We assessed that the underlying input variables of the PD and LGD, applied by the board of directors, were based upon data from observable external data source providers and we have recalculated the impairment as recorded in the financial statements.
- We specifically paid attention to the inherent risk of (unintentional or intentional) bias of management with respect to assumptions made.
 We assessed the sensitivity calculation over the ECL calculation performed by management and established that it fell within a reasonable range of outcomes.

We found the assessment of the board of directors to be sufficiently rigorous. Our procedures as set out above did not indicate material differences.

Report on the other information included in the annual report

The annual report contains other information. This includes all information in the annual report in addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Based on the procedures performed as set out below, we conclude that the other information:

- is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; and
- contains all the information regarding the directors' report and the other information that is required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and the understanding obtained in our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements.

By performing our procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of such procedures was substantially less than the scope of those procedures performed in our audit of the financial statements.



The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the directors' report and the other information in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Our appointment

We were appointed as auditors of Atradius Finance B.V. This followed the passing of a resolution by the shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 8 March 2018. Our appointment has been renewed annually by shareholders and now represents a total period of uninterrupted engagement of six years.

No prohibited non-audit services

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in article 5(1) of the European Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities.

Services rendered

For the period to which our statutory audit related, in addition to the audit, we have provided no other services to the Company.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the board of directors

The board of directors is responsible for:

- the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; and for
- such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the board of directors should prepare the financial statements using the going-concern basis of accounting unless the board of directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The board of directors should disclose in the financial statements any event and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high but not absolute level of assurance, and is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Dutch Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error.



They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

A more detailed description of our responsibilities is set out in the appendix to our report.

Amsterdam, 23 April 2024 PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.

Original has been signed by H.C.L. Scholtes MSc RA



Appendix to our auditor's report on the financial statements 2023 of Atradius Finance B.V.

In addition to what is included in our auditor's report, we have further set out in this appendix our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements and explained what an audit involves.

The auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit consisted, among other things of the following:

- Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the intentional override of internal control.
- Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.
- Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors.
- Concluding on the appropriateness of the board of directors' use of the going-concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a material uncertainty exists related to events and/or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.

 Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report and are made in the context of our opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
- Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. In this respect, we also issue an additional report to the audit committee in accordance with article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent with our audit opinion in this auditor's report.

We provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.



From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.